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Directorate-General for Internal Policies of the Union 

Directorate for Citizens’ Rights and Constitutional Affairs 

 

 
 

 

 

Call for tender for framework service contract 

IP/C/LIBE/FWC/2018-086 

in three (3) lots for the provision of external expertise on 

regulatory and policy issues in the fields of  

Horizontal issues on the area of freedom, security and justice, 

fundamental rights and citizenship (Lot 1) 

Policies on border checks, asylum and migration (Lot 2) 

Judicial cooperation in criminal matters and police cooperation 

(Lot 3) 

 

QUESTIONS RECEIVED UNTIL 18 September 2018  
 

 
Brussels, 19 September 2018 

 

 

Ref. :  Contract notice n° 2018/S 129-293208 

 

Until 18 September 2018, the European Parliament's services have received the following 

questions and have responded as follows: 

 

1. I was wondering whether you could tell me if the UK is permitted to tender for this 

Service Contract, and if so, whether if successful we would be permitted to finish the 

contract post-Brexit. 

 

Given that the UK remains a full Member State except for the points set out by article 50 

TFEU until 29 March 2019, UK operators may tender for and participate in any EP service 

contract. While the EP services foresee the signature of the contract in the first quarter of 

2019, it cannot be guaranteed that this will happen before 29 March 2019, and currently, we 

are not in a position to give any indication about the post-Brexit final situation.  

Ongoing public procurement procedures are dealt with in Title VIII of the draft withdrawal 

agreement of 19 March 2018, which would apply if an agreement on all the remaining issues 

is found.  
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Otherwise, in case of a hard Brexit, the UK would become a third country from 30 March 

2019 and it is currently unclear what would happen in this case for public procurement 

procedures initiated before but signed after the withdrawal date. 

We can therefore not give you an answer to the question whether UK operators would be 

permitted to finish the contract post-Brexit, but in view of this legal uncertainty would 

recommend UK operators to open a branch of their organisation based in an EU country, or 

cooperate with an EU operator via subcontracting. 

 

2. We would have a question regarding section 14.4.2. (sic: 13.4.2) of the Rules for 

tendering document. On p.19, the document indicates that tendered should provide: 

- “A list of research contracts completed (minimum four (4) contracts to be 

mentioned). 

- A compilation of publications of the staff planned for the execution of the services 

on relevant issues in the academic press carried out in the past five (5) years. 

- Proof of membership in academic research networks or think-tanks or other 

indications for scientific excellence such as awards, grants for research projects 

and similar. 

- Proof of relevant articles touching on issues of the EU institutional framework, 

experience in working in an area related to EU issues, participation in conferences, 

courses etc. on matters related to the European Union.” 

 

May I kindly ask if you could please clarify:  

i) If the list of research contracts and the compilation of publications of the staff 

should be presented on each expert’s CV, considering the page limit, or if this 

should be a separate document (if so, where should we add these documents 

in the proposal); 

ii) What you mean by proof of membership in academic research networks (etc.) 

and proof of relevant articles (etc). Should special documents be provided?  

 

i) In view of the page limit for CVs, we invite you to submit the list of research contracts and 

the compilation of publications of the staff in a separate document. All the documents 

required as mentioned on p. 19 of the Rules of Tendering should be submitted together 

(preferably in the order mentioned on p. 19), as they serve, at the selection stage, to evaluate 

the technical and professional capacity of tenderers. 

ii) “Proof of membership” and “proof of relevant articles” is meant in an informal way here, 

so you need not provide us with certificates issued by research networks or printouts of 

articles; it is sufficient to provide a list of academic research networks your organisation 

and/or your staff are members of, or awards/grants awarded to your organisation and/or your 

staff members, and a list of relevant articles (with proper citation so they can be found in the 

relevant journals). 

 

 

3. I would be grateful if you can advise if our company satisfies the requirements for 

economic and financial standing to tender for the above framework contract. 

 

Our company would fulfil the minimum turnover requirement, under section III.1.2) of 

the contract notice, in financial year 2017-2018. The company has only been operating 

for one year and prior to that I was employed. In that capacity, I would have satisfied 

the economic and financial standing for financial year 2016-2017. 
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Is it possible for our company to tender for the framework contract on this basis please? 

 

Section 13.3 of the Rules of Tendering requires tenderers to provide proof of a minimum 

turnover over the last two financial years, by providing statements of overall turnover (for 

legal persons) and proof of gross income (for natural persons). 

Evidently, if a company has only been operating for one year, it is not possible to provide a 

statement of overall turnover for the last two years.  

Therefore we would ask you to provide us with the proof of gross income of the natural 

persons constituting the legal person, or, if there are none, of the previous income of the staff 

members of the legal person, for the financial year 2016-2017. 

 

4. The TOR discusses the provision of a section by the tenderer demonstrating an 

understanding of the lot tendered for, which forms part of the award criteria. Could 

you clarify the timeframe of legislation and initiatives in the respective lots, to which 

this refers? Does this cover all legislation, initiatives and challenges since the beginning 

of the current framework contract? 

 

The Rules of Tendering in section 14.1. foresee “On no more than 5 pages, tenderers must 

write an essay on the current issues and future challenges, at a European level, in the lot 

tendered for”. 

The main point of this award criterion is to check tenderers’ overall knowledge of the lot 

tendered for and, more specifically, their ability to single out current issues and future 

challenges. Therefore, it is up to the scientific appraisal of tenderers to decide which 

legislation and/or initiatives to include, and in which timeframe (which might vary according 

to the challenge presented).  

Tenderers should also bear in mind that the page limit of 5 pages means that necessarily some 

choice of what to include has to be made, in order to present the current issues and future 

challenges in adequate depth, to allow the evaluation committee to assess tenderers’ 

understanding of the lot. 

 

-------- 

 5. i) Regarding the documents to be supplied by the tenderers on the specialization of 

experts, please see page 19 of the “Rules for the submission, content and presentation of 

a tender (…)”. Do tenderers need to submit the five documents requested (please see 

below:) 

 

o CV 

o A list of research contracts,  

o A compilation of publications,  

o Proof of membership in academic research networks  

o and proof of relevant articles on EU institutional framework)  

 

just from the core team members’ side or also from each member of the pool of experts? 

 

ii) One of the rules pertaining to the participation in the contract, is that experts 

aligning with one bid cannot be in a competing bid. Does this rule apply for both 

groups, core team members and pool experts? 

 

i) As the Rules of Tendering on p. 19 foresee that to prove the technical and professional 

capacity of tenderers as to the minimum structure of team, “the educational and professional 
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qualifications of the staff planned for the execution of the services, including the ones of any 

sub-service providers or sub-contractors, if relevant (CVs)” have to be provided, CVs not 

only have to be provided for core team members but also for sub-contractors (e.g. from the 

pool of experts).  

Conversely, the different lists mentioned on p. 19 are to be compiled for the tenderer as an 

economic entity, covering e.g. in one list all the relevant publications of the staff members of 

the tenderer who are planned for the execution of the contract. In respect of these lists, it is 

sufficient to include the information from the core team members, given that experts from the 

pool of experts will not necessarily work on a specific service in the future (see the Rules of 

Tendering on p. 21: “tenderers should be able to propose a team structure in which a 

permanent core team would be able to cover the main tasks and skills while complementary 

and particularly specialised team members from a pool of experts can be recruited on a case 

by case basis depending on the nature of the requested expertise”.) 

 

ii) While it would be contrary to the principle of competition to forbid an economic operator 

to participate within two different bids for the same lot, the Rules of Tendering on p. 3 

foresee that “a tenderer may not submit more than one tender for a given lot, whether 

individually, or as a part of a group of economic operators”.  

This means that if the expert as a natural person is at the same time a “tenderer”, he/she can 

only apply once alone or as part of a group of economic operators. 

If, however, the expert is attached to another economic operator who appears as “tenderer”, 

either as subcontractor (e.g. in the framework of the pool of experts) or as employee (e.g. as 

member of the core team), he/she may be part of two bids. 

 

From the EP side, the authorising officer needs to ensure when evaluating the offers that the 

presence of the same expert in two offers is not aimed at reducing the competition and at 

increasing the financial part of the offers. So before awarding the contract, the authorising 

officer would ensure the selected offer is in line with the "market price".   

 

--------------------------- 

 

6. Concerning the qualifications required for the “Researchers” position, the Rules for 

Tendering mention that “they need to have a professional and/or post-graduate 

academic experience of a minimum of three (3) years”. We understand that a candidate 

with three (3) years of general professional experience, and not just academic 

experience, would qualify for this position. Could you please kindly confirm? 

 

Indeed, the main point of this selection criterion regarding “researchers” is that it has to be 

some kind of professional or academic experience (of a minimum of three years) obtained 

after a qualifying exam (“graduation”). We would therefore not be able to take into account 

students who, before their bachelor degree of any kind, work for a professor and would help 

him write assignments for the European Parliament. 

 

7. The rules of tendering mention that “the tenderers should be able to propose a team 

structure in which a permanent core team should be able to cover the main tasks and 

skills while complementary and particularly specialised team members from a pool of 

experts can be recruited on a case by case basis depending on the nature of the 

requested expertise”. However, we understand that other experts, not included in the 

pool of experts presented at tender stage, could be also presented depending on the 

request. Could you please confirm? 
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Given that section 8 of the Rules of Tendering on subcontracting foresees “Furthermore, the 

European Parliament must be informed by the contractor of any subsequent use of 

subcontracting not mentioned in the tender”, it is possible in case of a specific request to 

propose other experts as subcontractors who were not yet mentioned at the tender stage. In 

that view, the last sentence in this section (“If the contract is awarded to a tenderer who 

proposes a subcontractor in his/her tender, this implies that the European Parliament is giving 

consent for the subcontracting”) gives the European Parliament’s advance consent to those 

already presented at the tender stage and thus avoids this step at the specific request stage. At 

the same time, proposing experts already at the tender stage is helpful to demonstrate the 

quality of team as award criterion as defined in section 14.1 of the Rules of Tendering. 

 

8. We understand that the “composition of the core team and pool of experts” part 

(indicated length: no more than 5 pages) of the proposal should not include the CVs of 

the team members and that the full CVs will be presented as annexes to the tender. 

Could you please confirm? 

 

The framework contract will be awarded on basis of the award criteria as explained in section 

14.1 of the Rules of Tendering, which does not mention the CVs of experts. Tenderers thus 

have to write 5 pages on composition of the core team and pool of experts, 5 pages on their 

understanding of the lot tenderered for, etc, in order to demonstrate that their offer is the best 

fit for what the European Parliament is looking for. 

The CVs of experts will only be checked at the previous step of the selection criteria 

(technical and professional capacity of tenderers) as explained in section 13.4.2, where the 

CVs of experts plus the relevant lists (research contracts, publishing record etc.) have to be 

submitted.   

 

9. The rules of tendering mention that “a list of contracts completed (minimum four (4) 

contracts to be mentioned)” should be presented. Should we provide administrative 

documents as proofs for each mentioned contract? 

 

Please see the answer to question 2 ii): it is sufficient to provide a list of contracts completed 

but no further proof has to be provided. 

 

10. We understand from the rules of tendering that the number of assignments can vary 

depending on the type and length of service requested. Could you please provide us with 

an estimation of the average number of assignments foreseen to be requested by the 

LIBE Committee? 

 

Generally speaking, the European Parliament does not have unlimited funds at its disposal so 

necessarily, the number of requests will also depend on the amount of (long) studies as 

compared to (shorter) briefings the LIBE Committee requests. 

However, we are not able to provide you with any estimation of average numbers of 

assignments in the future, as it is a political decision of LIBE coordinators how many and 

which expertise to request from the Policy Department. 

Looking at the experience of the last years, unfortunately the EP publication requirements 

about contracts awarded, which includes a separate list (e.g. for 2017) on value of and 

contractors for specific contracts under a framework contract, is not broken down to the level 

of specific requests. 

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/contracts-and-grants/en/20150201PVL00099/Contracts-awarded
http://www.europarl.europa.eu/tenders/List_of_the_framework_contracts_2017.docx
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You might wish to consider the Think Tank website of the EP, restricting it to “documents of 

Policy Departments”, to the Policy Area of “Justice and Home Affairs” and to a specific year, 

to see how many requests in total the Policy Department has fulfilled during that year, 

bearing in mind that a framework contract is not the only means for the Policy Department to 

respond to requests from the LIBE Committee (some products are also written internally or 

via a negotiated procedure with individual experts). The contractors of the previous 

framework contract for the LIBE Committee were mentioned in the contract award notice as 

published in TED on 13 September 2014. 

 

11.  

i) Are organizations from the USA eligible to be one of the entities within a group of 

economic operators submitting the tender? Point A.6 of rules for the submission states 

that an entity from a third country, which doesn’t have a public procurement 

agreement with the European Parliament may be exceptionally permitted to participate 

in the tender procedure, so we’re wondering to which cases such an exception could 

apply. 

ii) In case a joint offer with an economic operator from the US cannot be submitted, 

could such an operator be included as a subcontractor? It is mentioned in point 8, that 

subcontractors must also comply with exclusion criteria, but further in point 13.1 where 

these criteria are cited, the third countries are not mentioned.  

iii) Can non-resident fellows (who do not appear on our payroll, but cooperate with our 

organisation remotely from different countries, on basis of appointment letters or 

freelance agreements) be treated as our organization’s experts and work on studies 

commissioned under this FWC? 

iv) In case we have to submit a joint tender with our non-resident fellows in order to 

include them in our team, does each of them need to meet the 80 000 eur turnover 

requirement, or the fact that our organization meets this requirement is enough? 

 

i) The European Parliament is a European institution. Its public contracts are a priori 

reserved for the economic operators of the European Union. Nevertheless, in some cases, the 

Parliament must or can accept offers from economic operators who are established outside 

the European Union. Specifically the WTO Agreement on Government Procurement (GPA) 

grants access to procurement procedures of the Union’s institutions to nationals of states 

having ratified the Agreement, among which Armenia, Canada, Chinese Taipei, Hong Kong, 

Israel, Japan, Korea, the Netherlands with respect to Aruba, Moldova, Montenegro, New 

Zealand, Singapore, Switzerland2, Ukraine and the United States. 

 

However, the GPA only applies to the Commission, Council and EEAS, therefore not to the 

European Parliament; economic operators from third countries are in principle not permitted 

to take part in a procedure. 

 

Exceptionally, the EP can accept their participation in a particular procurement procedure 

without creating a precedent or obligation for the future. As a principle it should happen only  

 for purchase made on specific markets where there are no economic operators 

established in countries having access to the EU market; or  

 when delivery takes place in a country which has no agreement with the EU on 

procurement. 

 

Further, section 6 of the Rules of Tendering explains that a tenderer from a third country may 

send his tender, but that it might subsequently not be accepted by the European Parliament.  

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/search.html?page=0&previousSubmitter=POLICY_AREA&facetAction=&selectedAuthor=&selectedKeyword=&selectedPolicyArea=&contributor=poldep&selectedContributor=&word=&selectedDocumentType=&documentTypes=&policyAreas=FRSEJU&fakeSelectedPolicyArea=&fakeSelectedAuthor=&fakeSelectedKeywords=&previousResultSetDateStart=01-10-1977&dateStart=01-10-2014&previousResultSetDateEnd=24-08-2018&dateEnd=
https://ted.europa.eu/udl?uri=TED:NOTICE:309721-2014:TEXT:EN:HTML
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In view of these considerations, it might be more prudent to choose another approach to 

include a third-country operator. 

 

ii) As contracting authorities cannot limit subcontracting, economic operators are free to 

choose their subcontractors from any country. Thus, in principle all economic operators can 

act as subcontractors of other economic operators who have themselves access to the EU 

procurement procedures. 

 

iii) Non-resident fellows who are not on your organisation’s payroll but work for you 

freelance would be the typical example of subcontractors, and as such would be treated as 

your organisation’s experts. Please keep in mind section 8 of the Rules of Tendering on 

subcontracting, which expressly says that “critical tasks [have to be] handled by the European 

Parliament’s contractor”, so e.g. a team primarily consisting of subcontractors would not 

fulfil this requirement. 

 

iv) The turnover requirement as mentioned in section 13.3 of the Rules of Tendering refers to 

the economic and financial capacity of “tenderers”, but not individual experts your 

organisation includes in the team it proposes.  

So in case your organisation is tendering, its turnover would be relevant; conversely, if a 

natural person would tender individually, his/her gross income would be relevant. 

 

------- 

 

12. We would have a question regarding section 13.4.2. of the Rules for tendering 

document. May I kindly ask if you could please clarify whether the following evidence 

listed applies to each expert or to the team as a whole:  

-  “A list of research contracts completed (minimum four (4) contracts to be mentioned);  

- A compilation of publications of the staff planned for the execution of the services on 

relevant issues in the academic press carried out in the past five (5) years”.  

  

Namely, can one expert (Project leader / Senior researcher / researcher) be put forward 

if he or she does not have a publication relevant to the lot and/or did not complete 4 

research contracts, as long as collectively, the team can claim these four completed 

contracts and a list of publications? 

 

Please see the reply to question 5: “The different lists mentioned on p. 19 are to be compiled 

for the tenderer as an economic entity, covering e.g. in one list all the relevant publications of 

the staff members of the tenderer who are planned for the execution of the contract.” 

 

----- 

 

13. In 2014 and 2015 our institute had a turnover higher than 80.000€. However, after 

that we completely re-structured our institute, gave it a new name and new direction. 

During this phase we did not apply for funding. Consequently, our turnover of the years 

2016 and 2017 is less than 80.000€. Are we excluded from this tender? Does it play a 

role that we already completed a study commissioned by your department? 

 

In accordance with the Rules of Tendering, p. 18, if a tenderer is unable to provide the 

references requested, he may prove his economic and financial capacity by any other 

document which the European Parliament considers appropriate, i.e. you could provide us 
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with an organisation chart of your restructured institute. Please also refer in this regard to the 

reply to question 3. 

 

Besides, in accordance with the Rules of Tendering p. 18, a tenderer can rely on the capacity 

of other legal entities in order to secure the minimum turnover as requested. This should not 

be difficult, since, as you mentioned, there was a restructuration in the group and there might 

be other entities that satisfy the criteria and can give the necessary assurance that the tenderer 

will still have the necessary resources. 

 

Further, in the respect of the financial capacity, the fact that the future tenderer already 

completed a study for the EP does not play a role. 

 

14. The rules of the tender mention in page 19 of 25, that the minimum structure of a 

team should be: “at least three persons of the core team need to qualify as researchers 

[…]; at least one person of the core-team needs to qualify as a senior researcher […]”. 

In our case, the majority of experts taking part in the core-team can claim enough 

professional and/or academic experience to be considered senior researchers (five years 

or more). Therefore, from a seniority level point of view, they should fall under the 

“senior researcher” label rather than the “researcher” one. However, since the rules for 

the framework contract call for three persons in the “researcher” category, our enquiry 

is if we should place at least three of experts under the “researcher” description, even 

though they qualify as “senior researcher”, or can the core-team be made up of several 

experts under the “senior researcher” tag even if this means that we would fall short of 

the 3 “researchers”? 

 

When reading the minimum requirements for technical and professional capacity on p. 19 of 

the Rules of Tendering closely, the rules clearly state that the minimum structure of team 

requires at least 3 researchers with a minimum of three years of professional and/or 

academic post-graduate experience. 

This logically means that someone who has more experience would not only be qualified as 

“researcher” but also as “senior researcher” (if fulfilling the minimum of 5 years experience). 

So even if your whole core team only consists of senior researchers and project leaders, it 

automatically also consists of “researchers” and would thus not fall short of the requirement 

of 3 researchers. 

 

-------- 

 

15. The Global Terms of Reference in page 17 of 19, describes that: “after entry into 

force of the order form, the contractor shall submit an interim version to the EP within 

40 calendar days”. It is unclear to us whether the 40 calendar days applies to the 

interim or to the draft final version (or both). 

 

The wording of the table clearly only speaks of the interim version of a study. For the 

revision of later deliverables (draft and final version of a paper), the deadlines will be set 

between the European Parliament services and the contractor, except for the exceptional case 

of the suspension of the approval period for the final version of a paper as explicitly 

explained on p.18, where the Global Terms of Reference explicitly provide for a delay of 20 

calendar days (for a study) and 10 calendar days (for all other papers) for the contractor to 

submit the additional information requested by the European Parliament’s services. 

 



 

9 

16. Would you be able to clarify if (a) a university can tender, (b) if a university and an 

independent research centre can apply together, i.e. as a consortium and (c) if the 

tenderer can draw upon the resources of a university and if there is a particular ways 

this should be specified in the tender documents? 

 

(a) Given that section 6 of the Rules of Tendering explicitly provides that “all natural or legal 

persons and public entities in a European Union Member State” can tender, a university can 

tender. 

(b) Yes, a group of economic operators can tender, e.g. as a consortium, see section 7 of the 

Rules of Tendering. 

(c) For demonstrating a tenderer’s capacity to implement the framework contract over its 

duration, the tenderer can draw upon other entities, like a university. Section 13.4.2 of the 

Rules of Tendering provides that, for demonstrating that the tenderer fulfils the minimum 

requirements of the selection criteria,  

“the tenderer or candidate may also rely on the capacity of other entities, irrespective of 

the legal nature of the links between himself and those entities (see sections 7 and 8 

above on groups of economic operators and sub-contracting). In that case he/she must 

prove to the European Parliament that he/she will have the resources needed to perform 

the contract, for instance by providing a commitment by those entities to that effect.” 

Thus, the tenderer can either rely on the university by forming a group of economic operators 

with them (for the requirements to prove that cooperation see section 7 of the Rules of 

Tendering and section 2.2 of Annex II - administrative offer), and tendering under that 

capacity, or the tenderer can subcontract individual subcontractors (see section 8 of the Rules 

of Tendering and section 3.2 of Annex II - administrative offer). 

 

 

 

Please be aware that the deadline for asking questions has expired, see 

Rules of Tendering p.7: 

"No response will be given to any request for additional information 

received after 18 September 2018." 
 

 


